EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12 27

Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
Song Li, Director
50

50/F, Champion Tower,
Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

03 6212 8316

Red Arc Global Investments Cayman Trust- Templeton Global
Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series

10 1,136 7,000
10 855 9,000
929 3,900
2021 10 29
113.67 85.59 132.77

1/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series

2021 10
25

10 1,136 7,000
10 855 9,000
929 3,900

2.20 2.00

2/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3,000
0.01 3,000 0.01
3,000 0.01
100

0.01 100 0.01
100 0.01

2021 12 28 2022 12 27

https://www.smbctb.co.jp

3/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 12

24 228

4/251



10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2008 10 21 2015 10

2013 2015 14

5/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2157 10 21

1971 15
2008 10 21
2013

2013 30

6/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 13
2015 10
2015 14
2015 12

2015 12

7/251



EDINETOOOO
0000000000 DO000DO000D00o0DO000bDOo00oOodnE22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

[

Lol 7-d o2l 4 rA b A
ARy PR

b Bl b e
FUFL L HBEE T L AERT
AR
—— jEsEerE mipai
= SER{EEETS —
Paeal b | ke Sl L-gibe i N REER Ty A bHVET L
At AP A TR A A g e N L
| VigdaF FERP - BN ()
ViFyF
(79 FEEDERSTE, (79 FOBIET)
J o FEIEORG. BEL)
] I
BRI - s
BRI = !
st et
IR E
et S MB ClEstiR
EREEERUTHATS
(BB B BRI IR - T T B
HEER) (79 FEEDREER
B EESRRTER
RS aRN
LSRRI
HREE EEEREIE
oo Bl TSR S T T AL e L
- L AEYS ST
(BB A SRR R
T (BRIEORE. B
. BEUBERLICETS
T AR B SRR
Bl R TR A
i AP AP P i) P P
I |

(EIRZLOIRRNESS)

8/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

HREE OB IR AR %=
7T AEFEE I 1ES (FEE
EEfEEFTFSTH LU
BGOSR —t 72! )7

A.A TS

G T DI AN A AT A -
FAI A O— LR R TN
(RAZ—T77H)

* -

Lok =20 — L AN A A (AT RS A -
T HRESE DTN AERET)—X
(27K

* -

9/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2015
10 2015 12
Citigroup First Investment
Management Limited
2015
10 2015 12

FirstCaribbean International

Bank and Trust Company (Cayman)

Limited
2013 13
Citibank N_A.,acting through 2013 13
its Hong Kong branch
2013 13
Citicorp Financial Services
Limited
2013 12
2013 12
2013 12

10/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

571
SFO 116 SFO
200 200 2,924 2021 10
100 1,462
2021 10 293,089,331 42 8,497
2021 10 29
14.62
1971 15
2007 16
2021 10
50
50/F, Champion Tower, Three Garden Road, 100
Citigroup Global Markets Hong | Central, Hong Kong
Kong Holdings Limited

11/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1925

50

150

CIMA CIMA

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

O1CY

12/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
12 31 30 CIMA
(a
(b
( (
CIMA
(a
(b

CIMA

13/251



(a
(b
(c
(d
(e
(f
€

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

20 CIMA

(a
(b
CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

30

EDINET

EDINET

14/251

Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA CIMA
CIMA

CIMA CIMA

CIMA

15/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2017 18 DPA DPA

DPA

DPA

DPA DPA

16/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FTIF FTIF
2010 12 17
FTIF  UCITS

20

2 200
JP 50 JP
25 JP
25
90

17/251



10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

70

18/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

http://www._franklintempleton. lu

10

90 110

19/251



10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(2021 10 31 )

20/251



26

90

CFA

90

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

60

30

SFO 116 SFO

21/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

50 50/F,
Champion Tower, Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

50

50

15

UCITS
UCITS

10

22/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12

100
100

10
20

23/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

24/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90
110
90 110

25/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

26/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

27/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

28/251



FTIF

90

110
90

110

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

29/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

30/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

619

2015 21

2015 21

31/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

EU

FTIF

32/251



Q)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

) (i)
Giii) (iv)

(i)

33/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

144A

34/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FTIF

35/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

36/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

37/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

DVP

citifirst.im citi.com

38/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FiET 571} 97 T ROIREU A E BRI IE I HOMBO—2ELTIFIALLE L.

’.J"??i-a o ??,-fH:ftEB'JEEE??R#JUJ&?EEIHFLM?“F%;kDIL

fERLCBOTY
<HFINART EHH> {ib&lﬂmtiﬁm#}
(e ! ﬁ (2016511 A~2021 1 0FES)
T e e To0 1000 -
8 T {map 800 e » By
5l 0.0 ) a7
2l {400 400 1
2 00 200) nre R R 7o iR -] 9
. e my—— 0.0 o i T A3 -agx -am
e R A ra) ]-m e T T R e
— SRR T AR R (i | | =400 =400
HIEEIAIE ITEI0REE NIEEIOANE 0 OANE NIEIANE mlll# HTIPUE BSA RAEA  WNES B3O8 RADA  EADN
<WMPFIART (~wiidph)) SHEES> <WMPFIART (~widpt)) SHEES>
L) = (2016511 A~2021 E10AES)
T A e S — 1000 1000 -:a.tﬂ:
[ ] B0 u
6 &0 #0 " R 1 ]
4 400 400 b=l T
2 0.0 200} nex ! | - R 1
o ..lllllllllll____'___._._..;._.._,q““.m.._m o0 00
T L L
T =100 =200 <L ey - -125%
T SRR ) s - -
!—ﬂ-;uimmm =400 —aanj =i
WIEENAIE DTEIGAEE NEEI0ANE NREIOANE H0NEIIANE :u'mulllml-'fmﬂ??"J O WToruf BEM RNEA ENEA B3DA GADA  ERDN
<I—0ORT(~vIEY) SEas> <I—ORT(~vIHY) BHISE>
l:i—zn} 1:ﬁ. (FOTEET T A--2021 E10HET
- — = Y000 =axiam
a —— a0 B0 a3y
1 500 &0 e .. T
4 400 40.0 17A4%
‘2 w0 200} gy 1 1 i Ei": 54%
& E-nm —ﬂ = Lb% 1h0% - =1L5% - - o M L X
T I EO TR R Z o = -
R amAIOAT RS i | ~400 —agin | = et

WEETIANE FNTEIGEES M1ERI0AEE MIREIANE W00E0AES m#lﬁ 43 Ir0E BN EAES FNEN B1DN  EAEA  EWER
WA Bloomberg, LP.OF—FERCH- MBS ZEEER TR

# HREBRR OL SRR SIS, HES BRI ENGALESDEHE  SLTORRIIANY T I EORANSEEER A,
LTRELDION - YSRESEEEST N TS, BRI DS -UsaaE #2068 11 Hhps20 M 108 OSEROE BXICH SET I FEFRORER
ERERE IR BIET. DI MWW 77 BETRDIENGRAT S0

LS U3 CR—

mggﬂ?‘ggggﬁm AWMOBRERRE THEEToT LMLz, EINTL S 5 RS WS 1 O S S DS S s 1 O U s R S D

U - I EOEREEER, HiaIﬁmﬂﬁﬂtmﬂmt.a}tami_,ramwsm“:ml*ﬂraau WO DS A SR TR L
FHEERE NG LESFEUET.

ST -TE R MR, ‘JTT P ROE A TR RN, BRSSO T T R NTHU A IC SRl N T EUE . LIsh T, SIS
AEARLCES, ERPEERGEIREREESGETY. B, SR HERT OO S ENSH. CNSEAERELCES, ERPEEREIRERSGUET,

O ERETSA00EN

B = &« -« TOPIXIEEGAS)

il - FTSEREERE S »Fer 2 (BCEE, fai=1)

FEE - - - SAP FREESHEN

H#EMN - - - FTSEREEML 7w i 2

FINEM - - FTSEEHRERN T L BE, Ao T L EEIL~R=2)

FNEH - - - FISERRERRERA L TP 2 (oL R —2)

tms&pm!mﬁamma Bloomberg LP. CRBRLTLET.,

TOPIX (MIEREHER) 1%, Sl St R SRS A (R R SIS | P Dale S M ). IR, Rl A 3. MR SEHERICR T 2T~ TR e
ESESFRD LT OET, NE, U7 Jr 0 R, WIS C LR 3, RIS M NS 2O TR, BT eS|, o 7 Ir RO EiTER
ERICEFET AL ESMEC LT & BEENLER A,

FTSERMEMEr »Fof A MR EE, OA=2HIMT 2T~ TOlFiE, London Stock Exchange Gmu% [cEEET DL nAGTIL-TERCRELEY.
EEE,FTSE International Limited.FTSE Fixed Income LLCERZENSOMBEHHILS \EF . Londan Stock Exchange Group plefs&tf
EOXL—FEEE, EHORE, S EERASELBVAESRNC VT, BAICELT E-VOREEALER A, ik
FTSEEISMEM-A TP A, FTSE BN o T2 2 FTSERMEHEEN-r 7722, FTSE Fixed Income LLCICEUERSNT LS Mg »TvIATY.
ERMIEFTSE Fixed Income LLOOHDESER T8, AMICET ST~ TOMRIZFTSE Ficed Income LLCAHLTLE T,

39/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.20 2.00
2021 30 11,873
0.16
2021 30 14,057
0.08
2021 30 5,260

0.01

40/251



2021 30

2021 30

2021 30
0.55

0.20

0.01

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

41/251

0o00000000o0ooooood
879

0.75

65,892

0.08

7,028

0.14



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 30
122,496

42/251



20

15.315

15

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

20.315 15.315 2038

43/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2038 15
20.315 15.315 2038 20
15
20.315 15.315 2038
20 15
15.315
2038 15
20.315 15.315 2038

20 15

44/251



81

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

50

100

45/251



90

16.5

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2006 10

46/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FATCA FATCA
FFI
FATCA FATCA
FATCA
FATCA
FATCA  FFI FFI
FATCA
2017
FFI
30 FATCA
2014
FATCA FFI FFI
FFI
30
2017
FATCA
- FFI

. FFI FFI

47/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FFI FFI FFI
FFI
W-8 W-9
FFI FATCA
FFI 30 FATCA
FFI
FFI
FFI FFI
30 FATCA
FFI
30 FATCA
FFI
2014
2017

FFI FFI

FATCA

30 FATCA
FATCA FFI

FFI
FFI
FATCA 30

FATCA

48/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 10
6,255,715.47 100.77
47,797.71 0.77
6,207,917.76
706 100.00
2021 10

264,512.282 23.47 6,207,399 23.65 6,255,715 |100.77

1-ACC

2021 10

2021 10
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2021 10

2014 47,204,495.18 5,365,735 10.495 1,193
2015 38,889,485.62 4,420,568 10.144 1,153
2016 23,984,093.46 2,726,272 9.327 1,060
2017 16,710,779.19 1,899,514 10.226 1,162
2018 11,725,170.03 1,332,800 9.909 1,126
2019 10,731,974.05 1,219,903 10.347 1,176
2020 7,484,151.49 850,723 9.539 1,084
2021 4,825,361.38 548,499 9.183 1,044
2020 11 6,280,061.52 713,855 9.483 1,078
12 6,192,458.58 703,897 9.497 1,080

2021 5,627,530.92 639,681 9.453 1,075
5,487,931.67 623,813 9.376 1,066

5,228,744.28 594,351 9.223 1,048

5,188,109.98 589,732 9.294 1,056

5,042,929.71 573,230 9.267 1,053

4,825,361.38 548,499 9.183 1,044

4,791,334.08 544,631 9.144 1,039

4,710,620.71 535,456 9.105 1,035

4,578,750.85 520,467 8.876 1,009

10 4,276,933.16 486,159 8.876 1,009

2020 12 2021
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2014 12,233,407.51 1,047,057 10.629 910
2015 8,474,157.70 725,303 10.490 898
2016 8,060,522.95 689,900 9.677 828
2017 4,196,907.51 359,213 10.649 911
2018 3,297,043.48 282,194 10.292 881
2019 4,463,685.73 382,047 10.636 910
2020 3,156,860.01 270,196 9.616 823
2021 2,427,576.83 207,776 9.176 785
2020 11 2,917,098.03 249,674 9.535 816
12 2,824,641.92 241,761 9.540 817

2021 2,747,151.30 235,129 9.482 812
2,647,249.27 226,578 9.400 805

2,562,784.20 219,349 9.234 790

2,552,970.14 218,509 9.299 796

2,481,811.24 212,418 9.265 793

2,427,576.83 207,776 9.176 785

2,229,955.15 190,862 9.137 782

2,189,668.44 187,414 9.090 778

2,132,934.58 182,558 8.854 758

10 1,955,170.94 167,343 8.848 757
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2014 2,461,316.80 326,789 10.463 1,389
2015 2,291,896.26 304,295 10.072 1,337
2016 1,629,381.23 216,333 9.183 1,219
2017 1,349,993.60 179,239 9.907 1,315
2018 1,040,801.60 138,187 9.347 1,241
2019 768,129.56 101,985 9.461 1,256
2020 602,899.49 80,047 8.492 1,127
2021 424,333.73 56,339 8.078 1,073
2020 11 561,166.92 74,506 8.406 1,116
12 546,983.94 72,623 8.404 1,116

2021 510,812.70 67,821 8.360 1,110
466,289.49 61,909 8.283 1,100

458,208.97 60,836 8.140 1,081

461,367.40 61,256 8.196 1,088

428,588.18 56,904 8.159 1,083

424,333.73 56,339 8.078 1,073

426,283.34 56,598 8.035 1,067

415,400.69 55,153 7.992 1,061

387,185.40 51,407 7.779 1,033

10 389,610.24 51,729 7.773 1,032
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2013 13 4.95
2014
2014 2015 -3.34
2015 2016 -8.05
2016 2017 9.64
2017 2018 -3-10
2018 2019 4.42
2019 2020 -7.81
2020 2021 -3.73
2013 13 6.29
2014
2014 2015 -1.31
2015 2016 ~7-75
2016 2017 10.04
2017 2018 =3-35
2018 2019 3.34
2019 2020 =9-59
2020 2021 ~4.58
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2013 13 4.63
2014
2014 2015 -3.74
2015 2016 -8.83
2016 2017 7.88
2017 2018 =565
2018 2019 1.22
2019 2020 -10.24
2020 2021 ~4.88
100x
10

10 10
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2013 13 5,649,999.225 1,152,275.410 4,497,723.815
2014 (5,649,999.225) | (1,152,275.410) | (4,497,723.815)
2014 988,912.962 1,652,866.295 3,833,770.482
5016 (988,912.962) | (1,652,866.295) | (3,833,770.482)
2015 95,047.671 1,357,480.370 2,571,337.783
016 (95,047.671) (1,357,480.370) | (2,571,337.783)
2016 115,643.499 1,052,798.202 1,634,183.080
5017 (115,643.499) | (1,052,798.202) | (1,634,183.080)
2017 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
5018 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
2018 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
5019 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
2019 2,374.612 255,072.475 784,545.419
5020 (2,374.612) (255,072.475) (784,545.419)
2020 3,063.740 262,117.487 525,491.672
50921 3,063.740 262,117.487 525,491.672
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1,469,342.234

318,356.255

1,150,985.979

O3 (1.469.342.234) | (318.356.255) | (1.150.985.979)
2014 262,602.779 605,740.732 807,848.026
oo (262.602.779) | (605.740.732) | (807.848.026)
2015 250,329.765 225,302.621 832,875.170
o (250.329.765) | (225.302.621) | (832.875.170)
2016 25,505.490 464,264.185 394,116.475
200 (25.505.490) (464.264.185) | (394.116.475)
2017 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
o 18.400.459 92.166.056 320,350.878
2018 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
oo 133469880 34.143.649 419.677.109
2015 10,483.078 101,856.996 328,303.191
20 (10.483.078) (101.856.996) | (328.303.191)
2020 4,907 .245 68,643.053 264,567.383

4,907 .245 68.643.053 264.567.383

2021
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2013 13 269,404 .269 34,165.676 235,238.593
2014 (269,404.269) (34,165.676) (235,238.593)
2014 42,476.626 50,167.189 227,548.030
5016 (42,476.626) (50,167.189) (227,548.030)
2015 13,310.936 63,432.042 177,426.924
S0le (13,310.936) (63,432.042) (177,426.924)
2016 5,477.811 46,640.242 136,264.493
5017 (5,477.811) (46,640.242) (136,264.493)
2017 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
5018 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
2018 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
5019 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
2019 0 10,195.467 70,993.578
5020 ©) (10,195.467) (70,993.578)
2020 1,429.870 19,891.911 52,531.537
50921 1,429.870 19,891.911 52,531.537

2013 30 2013 11

11
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3,000 0.01
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1000
100 0.01 100 0.01
100 0.01
1000
3,000
0.01 3,000 0.01
3,000 0.01
100 0.01 100
0.01 100 0.01
15

2.20 2.00

10
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131

23 103

2021 10 29
113.67 85.59 132.77

72/251



312

4,12

4,12
12

11

11(a)

11(8)
11(38)
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2021 30
)
2021 2020
20,851 2,370 156,057 17,739
7,149,080 812,636 10,345,386 1,175,960
149,932 17,043
7,319,863 832,049 10,501,443 1,193,699
1,366 155 3,074 349
52,029 5,914 67,932 7,722
100,000 11,367
119,109 13,539 4,712 536
172,504 19,609 175,718 19,974
7,147,359 812,440 10,325,725 1,173,725
264,567 328,303
52,532 70,994
524,709 784,545
9.175 785 9.616 823
8.078 1,073 8.492 1,127
9.182 1,044 9.539 1,084
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2021 30
( )
2021 2020

8,12(a) 4 0 441 50
9 134,202 15,255 (878,586) (99,869)
277 31 (1,123) (128)
134,483 15,287 (879,268) (99,946)
12(a) (14,057) (1,598) (19,058) (2,166)
12(a) (11,873) (1,350) (8,279) (941)

12(a)

(5,260) (598) (7,141) (812)
12(b) (65,892) (7,490) (89,333) (10,154)
12(a) (879) (100) (1,191) (135)
12(b) (7,028) (799) (9,529) (1,083)
(35,756) (4,064) (31,740) (3,608)
12(a) (8,011) (911) (8,022) (912)
12(a) (53,926) (6,130) (34,462) (3,917)
(24,803) (2,819) (28,784) (3,272)
(227,485) (25,858) (237,539) (27,001)

(93,002) (10,572) (1,116,807) (126,947)
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2021 30
)
2021 2020
10,325,725 1,173,725 14,732,525 1,674,646
34,377 3,908 70,266 7,987
14,377 1,634
28,900 3,285 23,647 2,688
77,654 8,827 93,013 10,675
(486,277) (55,275) (707,372) (80,407)
(200,406) (22,780) (103,193) (11,730)
(2,476,335) (281,485) (2,573,341) (292,512)
(3,163,018) (359,540) (3,383,906) (384,649)
(3,085,364) (350,713) (3,289,993) (373,974)
(93,002) (10,572) (1,116,807) (126,947)
7,147,359 812,440 10,325,725 1,173,725
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2021 30
( )

2021 2020
(93,002) (10,572) (1,116,807) (126,947)
(4) (0) (441) (50)

(
) (93,006) (10,572) (1,117,248) (126,998)
3,196,306 363,324 4,232,811 481,144
( ) (1,708) (194) 3,074 349
(149,932) (17,043)
(

) (15,903) (1,808) 8,025 912
(100,000) (11,367) (50,000) (5,684)
4 0 441 50
2,835,761 322,341 3,077,103 349,774
77,654 8,827 93,913 10,675
(3,048,621) (346,537) (3,403,558) (386,882)
(2,970,967) (337,710) (3,309,645) (376,207)
«C ) (135,206) (15,369) (232,542) (26,433)
156,057 17,739 388,599 44,172
20,851 2,370 156,057 17,739

12 42 ( )
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( ) ( )( )
2008 10 21 2015 10
2008 10 27
( ) 2013
2013 17
10(a)
( )
2021 2020 30
( )
( )
@
( )
( )

( )

(d)

()
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2021 2020

20,851 156,057
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2021 2020
7,148,753 10,341,805
327 3,581
7,149,080 10,345,386
(1,366) (3,074)
2021 2020
4 441
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« D
2021 2020
(93,052) (717,248)
227,254 (161,338)
134,202 (878,586)
349,315 151,493
(215,113) (1,030,079)
134,202 (878,586)
(€))
( )
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2021 30 2020 30
(2020 )
2021 30 2020 30
1,875,949 93,797 2,174,460 108,723
506,863 25,343 683,444 34,172
2,382,812 119,140 2,857,904 142,895
(2020 )
)

(2020 )
357,438 (2020 517,090 )
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(
)
2021 30
327 (327)
327 (327)
(1,366) 327 (1,039)
(1,366) 327 (1,039)
(
)
2020 30
3,581 (3,074) 507
3,581 (3,074) 507
(3,074) 3,074
(3,074) 3,074
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¢

( ) )
2021 30 2020 30
2021

49,536 2,493 52,029

119,109 119,109

7,147,359 7,147,359

)

7,147,359 168,645 2,493 7,318,497

1,366 1,366
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2020

60,425 7,507 67,932

100,000 100,000

4,712 4,712

10,325,725 10,325,725

)

10,325,725 165,137 7,507 10,498,369

3,074 3,074

©@

Q)

13
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2021
7,148,753 7,148,753
327 327
7,149,080 7,149,080
(1,366) (1,366)
(1,366) (1,366)
2020
10,341,805 10,341,805
3,581 3,581
10,345,386 10,345,386
(3,074) (3,074)
(3,074) (3,074)
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2021 30 2020 30
)
i.
ii
)
2021 2020 30
2021
425,480 506,704 2021 21 159
22,713 30,000 2021 21 168
327
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30,000 22,720 2021 21 (172)
2,466,073 1,854,596 2021 21 (1,194)
(1,366)
2020
607,286 679,863 2020 31 3,581
3,172,418 2,177,534 2020 31 (3,074)
( ( )
(
) ) ( )
( ) ( )
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2021
) )
328,303 70,994 784,545
4,907 1,430 3,064
(68,643) (19,892) (262,900)
264,567 52,532 524,709
2020
) )

419,677 81,189 1,037,243
10,483 2,374
(101,857) (10,195) (255,072)
328,303 70,994 784,545
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2021 30
7,147,359 (2020 10,325,725 )

2021 30 2020 30

(®)
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2021
) ( )
1,824,203 505,169 4,825,361 7,154,733
(49) (13) (7,312) (7,374)
1,824,154 505,156 4,818,049 7,147,359
2020
) ( )
2,163,554 678,021 7,484,151 10,325,726
€)) €Y)
2,163,554 678,021 7,484,150 10,325,725
2021
) ( )
264,567 52,532 525,492
(783)
264,567 52,532 524,709
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2020
D ( )

328,303 70,994 784,545
328,303 70,994 784,545

0.16

10,000

0.08

0.01

8,000
8,011
8,022 )

4,500 AML
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2021 2020
14,057 1,072 19,058 2,848
11,873 2,494 8,279 7,507
5,260 5,331 7,141 5,647
879 67 1,101 01
8,011 4,056 8,022 8,816
4,491 1,122 7,878 3,378
2021 30
(2020 441 )
10@C )
(b
0.75 2021 30
65,892 (2020 89,333 ) 2021
30 5,025 (2020 6,796 )
)
0.08
2021 30
7,028 (2020 9,529 ) 2021 30 536 (2020
725 )

13
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2021 30
2018-2020 2022
2023
15
( 19)

19
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( )
2021 2020
( ) 7,154,733 10,325,726
(
)
( ) 9.176 9.616
( ) 8.078 8.492
9.183 9.539
( )
( ) 9.665 10.820
( ) 8.534 9.619
9.589 10.534
( ) 9.176 9.524
( ) 8.078 8.414
9.183 9.445
( ) -4.58 -9.59
( ) -4.88 -10.24
-3.73 -7.81
2021 2020
( )
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Tamakakst Ghba Bond Furd Fom s Curency Sorms -
a sames vt of Red Ar Giohal imesimants (Cayman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 20271

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless ofherwise indicated)

Note 2021 2020

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 312 3 20,851 ! 156,057
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss 4,12 7,142,080 10,345, 386
Amounts due from brokers 5 149932 -
Total assats § 7.319.863 $ 10,501,443
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit o

loss 412 3 1,366 3 3.074
Accruals and other payables 12 52,029 67,932
Amounts due to brokers G - 100,000
Redemption payable 7 119,108 4712
Total liabilities (excluding net assats

attributable to the unitholder) g 172 504 ] 175,718
Mat assets attributable to the unitholder 11 § 7.147359 £ 10325725
Total number of units in issue
AUD Hedged class 11(a) 264 567 328,303
EUR Hedged class 11(a) 52532 70,994
USD class 11(a) 524 708 784 545
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Temakikt Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 20271

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021

(continued)
{Expressed in United Sfates doliars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2029
Net asset value per unit in local currency
AUD Hedged class AUD 8175
EUR Hedged class EUR 8078
USD class Uso 9182

2020
AUD 9616
EUR 84592
ustc 9539

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 13 December 2021

I . =
mmmw } Ferand on behalf of
e } FirstCaribbean International Bank
t;rwwi.,» hscleth'y  and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (*Trustee”)
)

SNEIVEN LT P
S e )

Management Limited {“Manager”)

T o o "o

e

The notes on pages 12 fo 42 form part of these financial statements.
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Temakikt Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 20271

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2021

{Expressed in United Sfates doliars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2021 2020

Interest income 8.12(a) % 4 % 441
Met gainfloss) on financial instruments at fair

value through profit or loss 2] 134,202 (878,586)
Met foreign exchange gainfloss) 277 (1,123)
Total gain/(loss) 3 134,483 $ (879.268)
Management fee 12(a) s (14,057) % (12,058)
Trustee fee 12{a) (11,873) (8,279)
Administrator, transfer agent and custodian

fees 12{(a) (5,260) (7.141)
Distributor fes 12(b) (B5,892) (89,333)
Agent company fee 12{a) {879) (1,191}
Service provider fee 12{b) (7,028) (2.529)
Audit fee (35,756) (31,740)
Financial statements preparation fes 12{a) (8,011) (8,022)
Legal and professional fee 12{a) (53,926) i34, 462)
Others (24,803) (28,784)
Total operating expenses $ (227485 % (237539)
Change in net assets attributable to the

unitholder from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year ] (93,002) % (1,116.807)

The notes on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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Temakikt Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 20271

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder
for the year ended 30 June 2021

{Expressed in United Sfates doliars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2021 2020
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 10,325,725 S 14732525
Transactions with the unitholdar
Subscription of units
- AUD Hedged dass 11(a) 3 34377 % 70,266
- EUR Hedged dass 11{a) 14,377 -
- USD class 11(a) 28,900 23,647

5 77,654 5 93,913

Redemption of units

= AUD Hedged class 1ia) $§ (486277) $ (V0O7.372)

- EUR Hedged dass 11(a) (200, 408) {103,193)

- USD class 11(a) (2.476,335) (2573.341)
$ (3163.018) § (3,3835906)

Total transactions with the unitholder $ (3.0853584) § (3,289993)

Change in net assets attributable to the
unitholder from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year (93,002) {1,116.807)

Balance at the end of the year § 7147359 $ 10325725

The notes on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Temakikt Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust

Year anded 30 June 2027

{Expressed in United Sfates doliars unless otherwise indicated)

Operating activities

Change in net assets afiributable to the
unitholder from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year

Adjustments for,
Interest income

Operating gainf{loss) before changes in
working capital

Decrease in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

{Increase) / decrease in financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss

Increase in amounts due from brokers

(Decrease)increass in accruals and other
payables

Decrease in amounts due to brokers

Interest received

Met cash generated from operating activities
Financing activities

Proceeds from unit subscriptions
Payments on unit redemptions

MNet cash used in financing activities

MNet increasel{decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

2029 2020
k] (83,002) § (1,116,807)
(4) (441)
§ (93,008) § (1,117248)
3,196,308 4232811
{1.708) 3.074
(145.932) -
(15.803) 8,025
(100,000) (50,000)
4 441
g 2835781 § 3077103
5 77654 g 93,913
{3,048,621) {3,403,558)
3 (2970967) % (3.309645)
$§ (135208 § (232542)
156,057 388,599
3 20,851 g 156,057

The notes on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in United States dollars unless oltherwise indicated)

General

Red Arc Global Investments {Cayman) Trust {the “Trust™) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted trust under the Trust Act of the Cayman |slands by a Trust Deed dated 21
October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the "Manager”) and FirstCarmribean Intemational
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited as trustee {the “Trustes”) {jeintly “Management”).
The Trust was registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the Cayman Islands on 27 October
2008. Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the "Seres Trust') was
established on 5 August 2013. The Series Trust's first dealing day was 17 September 2013

The investment objective of the Seres Trust is to maximise total investment return consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and cumency gains, by adopting
investment strategy set out in note 10{a).

As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, the Trust and the Seres Trust had no employees. The
investment activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration and
custodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank M.A. Hong Kong Branch (the
“Administrator” and the "Custodian™). SMBEC Trust Bank Lid. is the distributor (the "Distibutor”)
of the Series Trust.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRESs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards {"HEASS") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Instiute of Certiied Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Series Trust is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for eary adoption for the cument accounting period of the Series Trust. MNote 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of thess
developments fo the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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Temakn G Bond Fund Fove iy Curency’ Sares -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{b) Basis of preparation

The functicnal and presentation currency of the financial statements isthe United States Dollar
(USD or %) (rounded to the nearest USD) and not the lecal currency of the Cayman lslands
reflecting the fact that the units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD and the
Series Trust's performance is measured in USD terms.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note 2{e) below. Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost o redemption amount (redeemable units).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management 1o
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The esiimates and associated
assumptiohs are based on historical experience and vanous other faclors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabiliies that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and undedying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note
i3.

fc) Foreign currency translation

Foreign curency transactions during the year are translated into USD at the foreign exchange
rates at the transaction dates. Monstary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting penod.

Foreign cumency differences arising on transiation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign
exchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

{d) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICFPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting penod of the Senes Trust. None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Series Trust's result and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared o presented.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the cument accounting period (see note 14).
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{e) Financial instroments
{i}  Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which
normally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately.

The Seres Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the confractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using
rade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of the financial assets or finandal liabiliies at fair value through profit or loss are recorded
as they occur,

{ii) Categorisation

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at
amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL)L

A financial asset is measured at amortised costif it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI™).

All ether financial assets of the Seres Trust are measured at FVTPL,

Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial

asset is held, the Seres Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the

business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming confractual interest
income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the

financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash oufflows or
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

- how the performance of the porffolio is evaluated and reported to the Seres Trust's
management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed,

- how management is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series
Trust's continuing recognition of the assets.

The Series Trust has detemmined that it has two business models.

= Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, amount due
from brokers. These financial assets are held to collect confraciual cash flow,

- Other business model; this includes investment in investment fund and derivative
financial instruments. These financial instruments are managed and their
performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether contractual cash fiows are SPF!

Faor the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of
money and for the credit risk assodated with the prindpal amount outstanding during a
particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs {e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Serfes Trust considers
the contractual terms of the instrument.  This includes assessing whether the financial
assetl contains a contractual temm that could change the timing or amount of confractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Series Trust considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount of timing of cash flows,

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assets (2.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset
of interest rates).
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust dassifies its investments based on the business model and contractual
cash flows assessment.  Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all its investments in
investment fund and derivative financial instruments into financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL category, Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash
and cash equivalents, and amount due from brokers.

Reclassificalions

- Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Series Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in
which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the
first reporting period following the change in the business model,

{iiiy  Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market paricipants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a financial instrument using the
gquoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
rransactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no gquoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for nen-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not active,
the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation techniques that provide a reliable
estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions. For investments in
investment fund, the Seres Trust measures the fair value of its investment based on the net
asset values as reported by the underlying fund's administrator and/or manager.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is nomally the
transaction price - |.e, the fair value of the consideration given or received, If the Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical assat or liability
nor based on a valuation technigue that used only data from cbservable markets, the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later
than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the fransaction is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are usad, estimated future cash flows are based on
the management’s best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting year applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. VWhere other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting year.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting year in which the change has occurred.
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Temakn G Bond Fund Foe iy Curency’ Sares -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{iv) Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for ECLS on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the nsk of default cccuming over the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since iniial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increasad significantly
since initial recognition and when estimatng ECLs, the Seres Trust considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Seres Trust s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the bomower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than S0 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit sk when the credit rating
of the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment
grade’. The Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BBE- or
higher per Standard & Poor's,

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrurment.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter peried if the expected life of
the instrument is less than 12 months),

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
1o the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust

expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial
asset,

Credit-impaired financial assels

At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camied at
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is "credif-impaired” when one or
maore events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financdial asset have occurred,

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the bomower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the bomower will enter bankruptey or other finandial reorganisation.
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross camying amount of the assets,

Wirite-orff

The gross camrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has
no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof,

Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the confractual cash flows in a
fransaction in which substantiaily all of the nsks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are transfemed or in which the Senes Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Sernes Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired.
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 Jdune 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding who confrols the entity, such as when any voting rights relate
to administrative tasks only and the relevant activiies are directed by means of contractual
amrangements.

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or aftributes:
- Restricted activities;

- A namow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for
investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity
to investors;

- Insufficient equity to pemit the structured entity to finance its activiies without subordinated
financial support, and

- Financing in the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit or ather risks (tranches).

Management has determined that the Seres Trust's investment in the Investment Fund (see
note 10{a)) is an investment in an unconsoidated structured entity and is classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 4). The Investment Fund's investment
objective is to maximise total investment retumn consisting of a combination of interest income,
capital appreciation and curmency gains. The Investment Fund is managed by an unrefated
asset manager and applies various investment strategies to accomplish its investment
objectives.

The Investment Fund invests principally in a portfolio of fixed or floating debt securities and
debt cobligations issued by government or government-related issuers worldwide, The
Investment Fund can invest to a lesser extent in debt securifies of any quality issued by
corporations located in any country and debt securilies of supranational entiies. The
Investment Fund can use derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used as
an active investment management instrument to gain exposure to markets.

The Investment Fund finances its operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable
at holder's option on any Luxembourg business day, and entitles the holder to a proportional
stake in the Investment Fund's net assets. The Seres Trust holds redeemable shares in the
Investment Fund and is not sponsorning the Investment Fund. As at 30 June 2021, the Series
Trust held 0.12% (2020 0.10%) of the net assets of the Investment Fund.

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investment Fund are subject to the terms and condition of
the respective offering decumentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about future values of the Investment Fund. The Manager makes investment
decision after extensive due diligence of the Investment Fund including consideration of its
strategy and the overall guality of the Investment Fund's manager.

The change in fair value of the Investment Fund is included in the statement of comprehensive
income under “Met gainfiloss) on finandal instruments at fair value through profit or loss™
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Temakkn Ghbe! Bond Fund Fomipn Curency Sanes -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimands (Capman) Trust
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(vii) Offsetling
Financial assets and financial liabiliies are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offset

the amounts and it intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and setfle the
liability simultaneously.

{f)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highty liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.

{g) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the criginal effective interest
rate of the instruments calculated at the acquisiion or ongination date. Interest income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, tfransaction costs or other differences
between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity
calculated on an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

fh) Net gain orloss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Met gain or loss on finandial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised

and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excudes interest
income,

{i) Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or [oss on an accrual basis.

fil Income tax
Cayman Islands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman |slands, the Seres Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Govermnor in Cabinet of the Cayman |slands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years
rom the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision forincome taxesis included
in these financial statements.
Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{k) Redemption of units by unitholders

Unitholders may redeem units on any day on which commercial banks are open for business
in each of Hong Kong, Luxembourg, New York and Tokyo, andfor any other day or days
designated in writing by the Manager from time to time (the "Repurchase Day™). Units will be
redeemed at the nef asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is
calculated by reference fo the net asset value of the Series Trust as at the applicable
Repurchase Day.

ff)  Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as finandal liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the confractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity
if it meets all of the following conditions:

(i} it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Senes Trust's net assets in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation;

(i) itisin the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

(i} all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes
of instrum ents have identical features;

(iv) apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other
features that would require dassification as a liability, and

(vl the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series Trust over
the life of the instrument.

The redeemable units of the Series Trust are classified as financial liabilities and are measured
atthe present value of the redemption amounts.

The Series Trust has three classes of redesmable units in issue: AUD Hedged, EUR Hedged
and USD classes that are the most subordinate classes of finandal instruments and rank pan
passu in all material respects and have the same terms and conditions other than that the
different classes of units are denominated in different cumrencies (the "Reference Currencies”).
The redeemable units provide the unitholder with the right to require redemption for cash ata
value proportiohate to the unitholder's share in the net assets of the applicable class of units
of the Series Trust at the redemption date. and also in the event of the Series Trust's
ligquidation.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

{m) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a dose member of that person’s family, is related to the Series Trust if that
PErson:

(i)
(i)
(i}

has control or joint control over the Series Trust;
has significant influence over the Series Trust; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.

An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

i}
(v)

(V)

(v}

(vii)

(viii)

The enfity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

Cne entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an assodate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party,

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an entity related to the Senes Trust,

The entity is controlied or jaintly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The enfity. or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key
management personnel senvices to the Series Trust or to the Series Trust's parent,

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust.

3  Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

Current deposits with a bank 3 20,851 3 158,067

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank M.A. Hong Kong Branch.
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4  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2029 2020
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Mon-derivative financial instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended investment in Templeton Global
Bond Fund § 7148753 % 10,341,805

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign cumency forward contracts 327 3,581

$ 7.149.080 g 10345386

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign cumency forward contracts g (1.366) % (3.074)

5  Amounts due from brokers
The balance represents the amounts receivable from the brokers for unsettled sales of $50,000
and is expected to be sattled within one month. The reminder of the balance represents cash
at broker which will be deployed for the Seres Trust's trading activities,

6  Amounts due to brokers

The balance represents the amounts payable to the brokers for unsettled purchases and is
expected to be sattled within one month.

T Redemption payable

The balance represents the amounts payable to the unitholder for redeemed units and is
expected to be settfled within one month,

8 Interest income
2021 2020

Interest income on bank balances 3 4 ] 441
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Met gaini/{loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

2021 2020
Mon-derivative financial instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended investmentin Templeton Global
Bond Fund S (93052) § (717,248)
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign cumency forward contracts 227,254 {161.338)
3 134,202 £ (&78.588)
Representing:
Net realised gain § 349315 § 151493
Met unrealised loss (215,113) (1,030,079)

5 134,202 § (878588)

Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The nisks that the Senes Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-fund
structure, risks of the underlying fund and risks of the Series Trust which include market risk,
credit risk and liguidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting pericd
and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed by the
Series Trust are discussed below.

Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the investment objective of the Series Trust is to maximise total
investment retum consisting of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and
currency gains. The Seres Trust seeks to achieve this investment objective through mainly
investing in the Investment Fund,

The Investment Fund is an unlisted open-ended fund. It is a sub-fund of Franklin Templeton
Investment Funds, a company incorporated in Luxembourg under the laws of the Grand Duchy
of Luxembourg as a société anonyme and qualifying as a société dlinvestissement & capital
variable. Franklin Templeton Investment Funds gualifies as an Undertakings for Collective
Investment in Transferable Securities.

The Investment Fund is managed by Franklin Advisers, Inc. (the “Investment Fund Manager”),
who provides day-to-day management in respect of the investment and re-investment of the
net assets of the Investment Fund. The Investment Fund Manager receives investment
management fee from Franklin Templeton Investment Funds, the umbrella fund of the
Investment Fund.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The Investment Fund's investment chjective is to maximise total investment retum consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appredation and currency gains. It seeks to
achieve its objective by investing principally in a porifolio of fixed and floating rate debt
securities (including non-investment grade securiies) and debt obligations issued by
govemment or govemment-related issuers worldwide.

The Investment Fund uses dervatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used
as an active investment management instrument to gain exposure to markets.

The Investment Fund's functional currency is USD. The Manager of the Series Trust also
systematically hedges the foreign cumency exposure of the AUD Hedged units and EUR
Hedged units of the Series Trust between their Reference Cumrencies (i.e., AUD for AUD
Hedged units and EUR for EUR Hedged units, hereinafter the same) and the functional
currency of the Series Trust by entering into foreign currency forward contracts of maturities of
around one month (the "Currency Hedging Transactions™).

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assets is retained as cash, taking into consideration the
day-to-day cash needs of the Series Trust as they anise,

{b) Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Series Trust invests substantially all of its proceeds from the issuance of units into the
Investment Fund and operatesin a fund-of-fund structure,

The fund-of-fund structure gives rise to a unique rsk that multiple parties invest in the
Investment Fund alongside the Series Trust. whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment retums, Should a major investor withdraw from the Investment Fund, the
investors that remain may take up a greater proportion of the operating expenses.
Furthermore, a substantial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time period
could necessitate the liquidation of security positions at a time and in a manner which does not
provide the most economic advantage to the Investment Fund, and which can adversely affect
the value of the Investment Fund's assets.

The Series Trust achieves its investment objective through its investment in the Investment
Fund. Whether the investment objective can be achieved depends on the performance of the
Investment Fund's financial instruments and the continuing availability of the Investment Fund,
as well as the business continuity of the Investment Fund Manager.

The Senes Trust is under a fund-of-fund structure and has not been established as a tracker
fund. The performance of the Series Trust can differ from that of the Investment Fund.

fe)  Risks of the Investment Fund
Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trust has an indirect exposure to the risks of the
Investment Fund and loss incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Series
Trust's financial position. The Investment Fund is the underlying fund of the Series Trust and

is exposad to the following key risks which are monitored by the Investment Fund Manager.
The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to them.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(i) Credit sk of the Investment Fund

Credit risk of the Investment Fund arises when an issuer of the bond securities held by the
Investment Fund defaults and fails to make principal or interest payments on due date. The

Investment Fund Manager has procedures in place to identify, measure, meonitor and control
credit risk,

The transactions in securities are seflled or paid for upon delivery through approved and
reputable brokers and cutstanding balances are closely monitored.

The bond securties invested by the Investment Fund are of sound credit ratings and their credit
qualities are assessad basad on the nature of the issuers and historical default rates.

(i)  Currency risk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Investment
Fund's functional cumency and cumency in which its financial instruments are denominated.

{iiiy  Liguidity risk of the Investment Fund

Liquidity risk arises when the Investment Fund Manager is not able to generate sufficient cash
to settle its obligations as they fall due. A major liquidity risk is the cngoing redemption of the
Investment Fund's units,

(iv} Interest rate risk of the Investment Fund

Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in prevailing market interest rates on
which the fair value of Investment Fund's financial instruments and future cash flows are
based. The Investment Fund Manager monitors the risk by quantifying its exposure in duration
terms.

(v} Derivative risk of the Investment Fund
Derivative risk arises from derivative contracts undertaken by the Investment Fund for hedging
and investment purposes. Derivative confracts are high leverage investments and their value
is determined by fluctuation in the underlying assets. Derivative contracts add to the liquidity,
credit and counterparty risk of the |nvestment Fund.

The Series Trust's maximum exposurs to its investment in the Investment Fund is the fair value
of its investment in the Investment Fund.

{d) Market risk of the Series Trust
All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the

value of the investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices,
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss to the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an on-going basis
by the Manager. Except for bank deposits, all the financial assets and liabilities of the Series
Trust are non-interest bearing,

(i) Currency risk

The Series Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated
in cumencies other than its functional cumrency. Conseguently, the Series Trust is exposed to
risks that the exchange rate of its functional cumrency relative to other foreign curmencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of the Series Trust's
financial assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than the USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the cumency in which the asset or liability is
denominated and functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in the fair
value of that asset or liability, Currency exposures between the Reference Currencies and the
functional currency of the Series Trust are present for the AUD Hedged and EUR Hedged
classes. Cumency Hedging Transactions are entered into by the Manager according to a
hedge ratio with certain residual nisks. Furthermore, as a result of the Cumency Hedging
Transactions, an appreciation in a Reference Cumrency against the functional currency does
not lead to a comesponding increase in the net asset value per unit of the hedged classes.

Currency sensitivily
As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, had the USD weakened by 5% (2020: 5%) in relation

to the respective currencies, with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the foreign
currency forward centract would have increased by the amounts shown below.

Changes in fair Changes in fair

valve of the value of the

foreign foreign

currency currency

forward fonward

Notional  contract f LISD Netional  contract if LISD

armount af weakened amount at weakened

(Expressed in USD) 30 June 2021 by 5% 30 June 2020 by 5%
Australian Dollar $ 1875949 % 93797 5 2174460 5 108,723
Euro 506,863 25,243 63 444 24172
Tatal g 2382812 % 119140 § 2857904 & 142 895

A 5% (2020: 5%) strengthening of the USD against the above currencies would have resulted
in an equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts shown above, on the basis
that all other varables remain constant.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{iily  Price risk

Price rigk i5 the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

Frice sensitivity

The assets of the Series Trust are substantially invested in the Investment Fund and therefore
are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund. It is estimated that a 5% (2020: 5%)
decrease in the quoted price of the Investment Fund would result in a decrease in the net
assets aftributable to the unitholder and the total comprehensive income for the year by
5357 438 (2020 $517.090). an equal change in the opposite direction would result in an
increase in the net assets atiributable to unitholder by an equal amount.

fe) Credit risk of the Series Trust

Credit risk is the nsk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to cradit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongoing basis.

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. All the cash held by the Seres Trust
is deposited with Citibank N.A. Hong Kong Branch which is also the Administrator and the
Custodian, The Manager considers that these exposures have low credit sk,

The Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as the counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term, There is no impaiment
allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents.

The Series Trust is exposed to credit risk with respect to the Custodian taking custody of the
Series Trust's cash and cash equivalents balances and to the counterparty of the foreign
currency forward confracts under the Currency Hedging Transactions.

All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A. Hong Kong Branch which
is also the Administrator and the Custodian. The Manager considers the credit risk of the bank
to be low.

The credit rating of Citibank M.A., Hong Kong Branch, the Custodian, was "A+" as rated by
Standard & Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Ltd., the counterparty of
foreign currency forward confracts and total retum swaps, was "A+" as rated by Standard &
Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., the counterparty of fareign
currency forward contracts, was "A+" as rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit nisk is
considerad insignificant.

The Currency Hedging Transactions expose the unitholder of the AUD and EUR Hedged
classes to counterparty risks. The Currency Hedging Transactions were entered into with
Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., an affiliate of the Manager.
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, substantially all of the Series Trust's financial assets
were allocated to the Investment Fund and the investment manager is Franklin Advisers, Inc.

The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to credit risk through its investment in the Investment
Fund.

The table below sets out credit ratings provided by Standard & Poor's rating services for the
holding company of the Investment Fund Manager:

2021 2020

Credit rating Credit rating

by Standard by Standard

& Poar's & Poor's

Frankiin Resources, Inc. A A

Offsetling of financial assets and financial llabilites
The disclosure set out in the tables below includes financial assets and financial liabilities that:
- are offset in the statement of financial position; or

- are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement. imespective of whether they are
offset in the statement of finandal position,

The master netting arrangements do meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial
position, The Series Trust and its counterparty do intend fo seftle on a net basis or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultanecusly.

Financial liabilites subject fo enforceable master netling arrangements

Gross and Related amounts that are
et not offsef i the datement

amournks of of financial position

financial Financial
ingrumernts  insfruments Cash
inthe dateme  (including coliateral
of financial non-cash  recened or
postion collaferal) pledged  Net amount
As at 30 June 2021

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Drerivative financial instrurments
- Foreign currency forward contracts 5 27 5 (3En % -3 =

$ 327 $ (3 $ T E

Financial kabifities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments
= Fareign currency forward confracts 3 (1368 3 327 (1089

3 (1,368 3 zZr s - % (1,089
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

9

Financial iabiliies subject lo enforceable master netling arrangements

Grass and Related amourts that are
mel  not offset in the detement
amountsof ____of ingncial pesition
financial Financial
ingrumernis  insfruments Cash
inthe dateme  (includimg collateral
of financial mon-cash  receded or

pasition collaferal) pledged  Nel amount
As at 30 June 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instrurments
- Foreign currency forward contracts F 38 0§ (3074 3 - % s07
3 3581 5 (30f4 3 - & 507
Financial kabiittes at fair value through profit or less
Derivative financial instrurments
- Foreign currency forerard contracts 3 O [B074 5 3074 5 - & -
5 (3074 % 3074 3% - % -

Liguidity risk of the Series Trust

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments into
cash to meet liguidity needs in a timely manner, Receivables from redemption on investments
in the Investment Fund are nomally setfled within three fund business days. The Series Trust
is subject to liquidity nsk on the ability of the Investment Fund to meet its red emption obligation,
The Series Trust is exposed to liquidity risk on redemption of units by the unitholder on the
redemption date.

The unitholder may redeem units on any Repurchase Day, Under normal market condition,
the Manager will liguidate the Series Trust's investments in the Investment Fund to meet the
redemption obligation. Any amount payable to the unitholder in respect of the redemption of
units shall normally be paid within eight fund business days following the relevant Repurchase
Day as defined in note 2{k).
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Analysis of liability by remaining maturity

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Seres Trust's liabilities
as at 20 June 2021 and 30 June 2020

=021
Cvar Ovear
Repayable Within 1 month to 3 months
on demand 1 morth 3 manths to 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables - - 5 40538 3§ 2493 5 - 5 52029
Redemption payable = 119,108 = = 118,109
Met assels attributable to
the unitholder (note) 7.147 359 - - - 7,147 358
Total $ 7147359 5§ 168845 5 2493 3 = 5 7.318487
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilties at fair
value through profit or
loss - - 5 1,366 % - 5 - 5 1,366
2020
Over Over
Repayabie Within 1 moriti to 3 months
on demand 1 month 3 months to 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 5 - § B0425 § 7807 S - 8 &7.032
Amounts due to brokers - 100,000 - - 100,000
Redemplion payable - 4712 - - 4712
MNet assets attributable to
the unitholder {note) 10,325,725 - - - 10,325725
Tatal $10.325,725 § 1685137 § 7507 § - 510,498 369
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
less ] - § 3074 % - 5 - % 3074

Mote: The liquidity profile of the net assets atiributable to the unitholder is subject to the
liquidity terms of the Seres Trust as outlined in the relevant sections of the Offering
Memorandum.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{a) Fair values
(i} Financial instruments carred at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust's financial instruments measured
atthe end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using onfy Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

- Lewvel 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

20271
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Men-derivative financial
instruments:
= Unlisted open-ended investment
in Templeton Global Bond
Fund $ - 5 7148753 § - % 7148753

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward
contracts - 327 - 327

5 7,148,080

5 - 5 7149080 %

Financial labilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward
contracts - {1,366) - (1,366)

5 - 3 i(1,366) § - % i1,366)
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

(i)

2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financlal assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Mon-derivative financial
instruments:
- Unlisted cpen-ended investiment
in Templeton Global Bond

Fund S - S10341805 & - $10.341.805
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward
contracts - 3,581 - 3,581
3 - 510345286 § - 510345386
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward
contracts - (3.074) - (3,074)
5 - & (3.074) 3 - % (3,074)

Curing the year ended 20 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, there were no transfers ameng
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

Financial instruments carried at other than fair value
The finandial instruments not measured at FVTPL include:

i. cash and cash equivalents, amount due from / to brokers, redemption payable and
accruals and other payables. These are short-term financial assets and financial liabilities
whose cammying amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-term nature and the
high credit guality of counterparties; and

ii. net assets attributable to the unitholder. The Senes Trust routinely redeems and issues the
redeemable units at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the Series
Trust at the time of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these
financial statements. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
unithclder approximates their fair value. The shares are categorised into Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

(i} Foreign currency forward contracts

The foreign curmency forward confracts were outstanding as follows as at 30 June 2021 and

2020
2021

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Cumency Currency Cutrency

bought  amount bought sold amount sold
EUR 425480 usp 506.704
uso 22,713 AUD 30,000

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Cumency Currency Currency
bought  amount bought sold amount sold
AUD 20,000 usD 2,720
AUD 2,466,073 uso 1,854,506
2020

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Cumrency Currency Currency
bought  amount bought sold amount soid
EUR 607,286 usD 679,863

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Cumency Currency Currency
bought  amount bought sold amount sold
AUD 3172418 usb 2,177,534
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Settlement
date

21 July 2021
21 July 2021

Sefflement
date

21 July 2021
21 July 2021

Setilement
dale

31 July 2020

Seftlement
date

31 July 2020

Fair value

159
188

327

Fair value

(172)
(1.194)

5 {1,368)

Fair value

2,581

Fair value

{3,074)
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Foreign currency forward contracts are commitments either to purchase or sell a designated
currency at a specified future date for a specified price and settled in cash. The contracts are
customised over-the-counter. These confracts were entered into to hedge foreign cumency
exposure of the Series Trust,

Foreign cumency forward confracts result in exposure to market risk based on changes in
market prices relative to confracted amounts. Market risks arise due to the possible movement
in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition. because of the low margin deposits nomally
required in relation to notional contract sizes, a high degree of leverage may be typical of a
forward trading account. As a result, a relatively small price movement in an underying of a
forward confract may result in substantial losses to the Series Trust.

Motional amounts are the underlying reference amounts o foreign currencies upon which the
fair value of the forward contracts traded by the Series Trust are based. While notional
amounts do not represent the current fair value and are not necessarily indicative of the future
cash flows of the Series Trust's foreign currency forward contracts, the underlying price
changes in relation to the variables specified by the notional amounts affect the fair value of
these derivative financial instruments.

The Series Trust transacts in foreign currency forward contracts for the account of holders of
the AUD Hedged and EUR Hedged classes of units, in principle, by selling USD and
purchasing the Reference Cumencies. As a result of the Currency Hedging Transactions, an
apprecdiation in AUD or EUR against the USD as applicable will not lead to a comesponding
increase in the net asset value per unit of the AUD Hedged or EUR Hedged dasses of units.
All gains and losses arising from these transactions are to the account of the respective AUD
Hedged and EUR Hedged dlasses of units.

The counterparty of these contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the Manager, which is a reputable
financial institution, hence the risk of default is considered low.
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11 MNet assets attributable to the unitholder

fa) Units issued and redeemed

Number of units
2021
AUD ELR Usn
Hedged class Hedged class class
At 1 July 2020 328,303 70,994 784 545
Subscription of units
during the year 4,907 1,430 3,064
Redemption of units
during the year (68.643) (19.892) (262.800)
At 30 June 2021 264 567 52532 524,704
Number of units
2020
AUD EUR Usn
Hedged class Hedged class class
At 1 July 2019 419,677 81,189 1,037,243
Subscription of units
during the year 10,483 - 2374
Redemption of units
during the year (101,857) {10,195) (255,072)
At 30 June 2020 328,303 70,994 784 545

As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, all units issued by the Series Trust were classified as
financial liabiliies. The only unitholder of the Seres Trust is SMBC Trust Bank Ltd, The
unitholder is the Distributor.

The initial offering of all three classes of units were priced at a unit price of 10 currency unit of
their respective Reference Cumency. Units may be redeemed on the redemption date and
also in the event of the Senes Trust's liquidation at the net asset value per unit of the applicable
class of units on the relevant redemption date with no redemption charge.

In meetings of unitholders for any resclution to be proposed, individual unitholder present in
person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every unit of which he is the holder.
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

11 Net assets attributable to the unitholder (continued)

The Trust and the Seres Trust do not have any extemally imposed capital requirements, As
at 30 June 2021, the Seres Trust had net assets afirbutable to the unitholder of $ 7,147 359
(2020: $10,325,725).The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received from the issue of
units in investments that meet the Series Trust's investment objective while maintaining
sufficient liquidity to meet the funding needs when the unitholder redeems its units.

The unitholder of the Series Trust cannot swilch its units into units of any other senes trust of
the Trust.

The Series Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions for the year ended 30
June 2021 and 20 June 2020,

{b) Reconciliation of net assets

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memerandum, the net assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-detemined cut-off time for all transactions. Transactions after the
offering memoerandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs
requirements, these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recognition and
derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference
between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering memeorandum net assets
and units issued,

7
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

11 Net assets attributable to the unitholder (continued)

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2021
ALD ELR
Hedged Hedged LUsD
Class class class Total
Met assels attributable to the
unitholder for valuation
pUrposes $ 1824203 % 505160 % 48253681 S 7154733
Adjustment for timing
difference (49) (13) (7.312) (7.374)
Met assets atinbutable to the
unitholder as reported in the
financial statements § 1824154 & 505156 % 4818049 5 7147359
2020
ALD EUR
Hedged Hedged LsD
Class class class Total
Met assels atiributable to the
unitholder for valuation
purposes § 2163554 & 678021 $ 7484151 $10325726
Adjustment for timing
difference - - (1 {1
Met assels attributable to the
unitholder as reported in the
financial statements § 2163554 & 678021 5 7484150 $10325725
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

Met assets attributable to the unitholder {continued)

& reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposes and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2021
AUD ELIR Usn
Hedged class Hedged class class
Units issued for valuation purpose 264 567 52532 525,492
Adjustment for timing difference - - (T83)
Units issued as reported in the
financial statements 264,567 52,532 524,709
2020
AUD EUR uso
Hedged class Hedged class class
Units issued for valuation purposs 328,303 70,994 784 545
Adjustment for timing difference - - -
Units issued as reported in the
financial statements 328,302 70,994 784,545
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

Related parties
Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of senices provided to the Series Trust
are as follows:

Management fee: The Manager is entitled to a management fee of 0.16%
per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust.
The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in
amears.

Trustee fee: The Trustee charges a fee of USD10.000 per annum.
The fee is accrued daily and payable guarterly in
amears.

Administrator, transfer agent and The Administrator is enfitled to a combined fee of up to

custodian fees: 0.08% per annum of the net asset value of the Series
Trust. The feeis accrued daily and payable monthly in

amears.
Agent company fee: The agent company charges a fee up to 0.01% per

annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust. The
fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Financial statements The Administrator is enfitled to a financial statements
preparation feeg; preparation fee of USDE, 000 per annum. The financial
statements preparation fee charged for the year
amounted to USDA8,011 (2020; USDE,022),
Frofessional fee; The Trustee charges an AML fee of 54 500 per annum.
The following summarises the significant related party fransactions of the Series Trust:

2021 2020
Expenses Payables Expenses Payables

Management fee 5 14057 % 1,072 3 19058 § 2848
Trustee fee 11873 2,494 8,279 7.507
Administrator, transfer agent

and custodian fees 5,280 5331 7,141 5.647
Agent company fee ara &7 1,181 ok
Financial statements

preparation fee 2011 4,056 8022 8816
Professional fee 4491 1122 7.878 3378
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

12 Related parties (continued)

The Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Administrator in the ordinary course of
their banking and securifies custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents, and investment balance is disclosed in notes 3 and 4 respectively. During the
year ended 30 June 2021, the interest income eamed from the bank balances maintained with
the Administrator amounted to USD4 (2020: USD441).

The counterparty to the foreign cumency forward contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the
Manager. Information relating to the foreign cumency forward contracts is disclosed in note
10(giii).

{b) Other key contracts
{iy Distributor

The Distnbutor charges a fee up t0 0.75% per annum of the net asset value of the Seres Trust
per unit for each unit that the Distributor is the registered holder. The fee is accrued daily and
payable monthly in arrears. During the year ended 30 June 2021, distibutor fee incurred
amounted to USDE5.892 (2020: USDES.333). As at 30 June 2021, USDS5025 (2020:
USD6.796) of the distributor fee remained payable.

(i) Service provider fee

The service provider is entitied to receive a fee of up to 0.08% per annum of the per unit net
asset value of the Series Trust for each unit that SMBC Trust Bank Limited is the registered
holder in its capacity as a distributor, or distributors in Japan as may be appointed by the
Manager from time to time. The fee is calculated and accrued daily and payable monthly in
amears, Durng the year ended 30 June 2021, service provider fee incurmed amounted to
USDT 028 (2020: US09,529), As at 30 June 2021, USD 536 (2020: USD725) of the distributor
fee remained payable.

13 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of finandal instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as described in note 2{e)iiii}.
Fair value estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments, These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined
with precision. Newvertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a reasonable range
of estimates,
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Temakint Ghba Bond Fund Foe iy Corency’ Sorss -
3 sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2021
and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Series Trust:

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabiliies as Curent or 1 January 2023

Mon-current

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. Sofarthe Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position.

Significant Events
Coronavirus (COWVID-19) impact

Inresponse to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Manager has tested and implemented
business continuity procedures that have included the majority of the Manager's staff working
fromn home, pausing all international travel asking staff to avoid public transport and
infroducing other social distancing measures in accordance with relevant govermment
guidance, The Manager is also monitoring the business continuity planning effectiveness of
key senvice providers, The pandemic continues to have significant finandal market and social
dislecation and the ultimate extent of the effect of this on the Series Trust in the future is
uncertain.
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Temakint G Bond Fund Fom iy Curency’ Sorss -
a sares rus! of Red A Global imesimants (Capman) Trust
Year ended 30 June 2021

Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
{Expressed in United Siates dollars)

2021 2020

Total net asset value (calculated in accordance with

the Offering Memorandum ) g 7154733 $ 10325726
Met asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with

Offering Memorandum}
- AUD Hedged dass AUD 9176 AUD 2616
- EUR Hedged dass EUR 8.078 EUR 8492
- USD class ush 9183 uso 5539
Price record (calculated in accordance with Offering

Memorandum)
= Highest unit net asset value durng the year

- AUD Hedged class AUD 9885 AUD 10,820

- EUR Hedged class EUR 8534 EUR 9619

- USD class uUshD 9589 Ust 10534
- Lowest unit net asset value during the year

- AUD Hedged class AUD 9178 AUD 9524

- EUR Hedged class EUR 8078 EUR 8414

-USD dlass st 9,183 Usp 9445
Met investment return during the year
- AUD Hedged dass -4 58% -9.59%
- EUR Hedged dass -4 88% -10.24%
- USD class -3.73% -7.81%

The net investment retums for 2021 and 2020 were calculated by reference to the difference
between the net asset value per unit {calculated in accordance with the Offering Memorandum )
of the Series Trust at year end date and vear beginning date price, divided by the year
beginning date price to obfain the return in percentage.
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2021 10
( ) ( )

6,597,728.13 749,963,757
389,810.37 44,309,745
6,207,917.76 705,654,012

481,838.690

220,981.065

50,123.902
8.876 1,009
8.848 757
7.773 1,032
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50 50/F,

Champion Tower, Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

2021 10 45
45

366,119,878,267
2,287,040,928
42,454
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2020 12 31

2020 2020 2019 2019
40,012,764 584,986,610 39,835,244 582,391,267
839,852 12,278,636 2,992,020 43,743,332
(126,878) (1,854,956) 135,570 1,982,033
(24,019,968) (351,171,932) (20,048,154) (293,104,011)
16,705,770 244,238,357 22,914,680 335,012,622
@) (2,621,364) (38,324,342) (3.244,882) (47,440,175)
14,084,406 205,914,016 19,669,798 287,572,447
14,084,406 205,914,016 19,669,798 287,572,447
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2020 12 31
2020 12 31
( )
2020 2020 2019 2019
© 17,202 251,493 19,753 288,789
6,375,325 93,207,252 9,949,200 145,457,304
© 623,061 9,109,152
281,524,689 4,115,890,953 257,483,338 3,764,406,402
288,523,075 4,218,207,357 267,432,538 3,909,863,706
18,587,209 271,744,996 7,921,181 115,807,666
©) 3,662,448 53,544,990
18,587,209 271,744,996 11,583,629 169,352,656
269,935,866 3,946,462,361 255,848,909  3,740,511,050
269,953,068 3,946,713,854 255,868,662  3,740,799,838
(@) 2,000,200 29,242,924 2,000,200 29,242,924
267,952,868 3,917,470,930 253,868,462 3,711,556,914
269,953,068 3,946,713,854 255,868,662  3,740,799,838
2021 28
)
)
)
)
)
11 30 ( )
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2020 12 31
2020 12 31
( )
2019 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
19,669,798 19,669,798
2019 12 31 2,000,200 253,868,462 255,868,662
2020 2,000,200 253,868,462 255,868,662
14,084,406 14,084,406
2020 12 31 2,000,200 267,952,868 269,953,068
2019 29,242,924 3,423,984,468 3,453,227,392
287,572,447 287,572,447
2019 12 31 29,242,924 3,711,556,914 3,740,799,838
2020 29,242,924 3,711,556,914 3,740,799,838
205,914,016 205,914,016
2020 12 31 29,242,924 3,917,470,930 3,946,713,854
11 30 ( )
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2020 12 31
2020 12 31
( )
2020 2020 2019 2019
16,705,770 244,238,357 22,914,680 335,012,622
(839,852) (12,278,636) (2,992,020) (43,743,332)
15,865,918 231,959,721 19,922,660 291,269,289
¢ ) 3,573,875 52,250,053 (2,450,828) (35,831,105)
¢ 10,666,028 155,937,329 (15,804,301)  (231,058,881)
30,105,821 440,147,103 1,667,531 24,379,303
(6,904,322) (100,941,188) (460,512) (6,732,685)
23,201,499 339,205,915 1,207,019 17,646,618
839,852 12,278,636 2,992,020 43,743,332
839,852 12,278,636 2,992,020 43,743,332
24,041,351 351,484,552 4,199,039 61,389,950
257,483,338 3,764,406, 402 253,284,200  3,703,016,451
1231 281,524,689 4,115,890,953 257,483,338 3,764,406,402
11 30 ( )
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2020 2019

40,012,764 39,835,244

40,012,764 39,835,244
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2020 2019
6,456,764 4,666,331
8,107,596 4,078,536
7,988,111 10,742,855

468,286 468,286
332,108
190,903

476,200 92,146

2020 2019

(20,001) (19,989)

2,638,814 3,261,875

2,551 2,996

2,621,364 3,244,882

16.5 (2019  16.5 )
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2020 2019
16,705,770 22,914,680
2,756,452 3,780,923
(115,087) (516,052)
(20,001) (19,989)
2,621,364 3,244,882
2020 2019
3,662,448 881,075
(6,904,322) (460,513)
(20,001) (19,989)
(@) 2,638,814 3,261,875
(623,061) 3,662,448
22,749 22,749
(2,996) (2,996)
19,753 19,753
19,753 19,753
(2,551) (2,996)
17,202 19,753
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2020 12 31
(2019 )

383 (1) ( )

2020 2019
7,478,000 7,478,000
9,277,210 8,494,866
2,227,319 2,131,543
750,500 740,100
19,733,029 18,844,509

2020 2019
281,524,689 257,483,338

2020 2019
6,008,164 5,444,468
236,399 3,731,358
130,762 773,374
6,375,325 9,949,200
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2020 2019
580,425
4,884,580 4,840,130
460,648 460,648
13,241,981 2,039,978
18,587,209 7,921,181
(2019 580,425 )
2020 2019
20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200
2020 12 31
(2019 255,868,662 )
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(

(

1703(

1710(

( ) (
100,000
2020 2019
) 40,012,764 39,835,244
) 6,967,624 1,900,215
C X 14 )(2020 10
( 18 )
19 )
( 20 )
25 )
(
)
( 27 )
( 28 )
30 )
( 31 )
32 )
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1809( 40 )
( 41
)(2020 10 15 )
1903( 42 )
( 10 )(
43 )
( 44 (2020
21 )
( 45 )
(2020 10 30 )
( 46 (2020
12 15 )
2012(  )(
)
( ) ( )
)
/

14 18 19 20 25 26 27 28 30 31 32 33 34 36 37 38 39 40
41 42 43 44 45 46
0.01 1.8

() 19 39 45
50 55 55

2020 12 31 19 39 45
6,967,624 (2019 :1,900,215

(®)

2020 12
31 6,456,764 (2019 4,666,331 )
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)
2020 2019
3,609 727,218 7,932,630 2,989 627,403 4,228,327
4,356,006 2,008,536 12,878,693 3,612,104
(5,970,427) (9,507,160) (4.605.786) (2,020,756)
3,609 (887,203) 434,006 2,989 8,900,310 5,819,675
)
2020 2019
( ) « ) ) « )
5.13 185
(4.35) (130)
5.26 (46,627) 5.77 513,516
2019
©
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12
2020 12 31
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Ciffgroug Frs! nvasimant Managemant Limited
Financial sfafamantz for the year ended 31 December 2020

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2020
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MNote 2020 2019
k] ]
Tumover 2 40,012,764 39,835,244
Interest income 839,852 2,992 020
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain {126,878) 135,570
Other operating expanses (24,019,968) {20,048,154)
Profit before taxation 3 16,705,770 22,914 680
Income tax 4(a) (2,621 ,364) (3,244 882)
Profit for the year 14,084 406 19,669,738
Other comprehensive income for the year -
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,084,406 19,669,798

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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Cdigroun First investmant Managemeand Lim@ed
Financial stafameants for e yedr ended 31 Decamber 2020

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020
{Expressed in Hong Kong dolfars)

MNaofe 2020 2018
5 $
Non-current asset
Deferred tax assets 4{e) 17,202 19,753
Current assets
Accounts receivable and others assels 7 6,375,325 S,949 200
Tax receivable 4(c) 623,061 -
Cash and cash equivalents [ 281 524 689 257 483,338
288,523,075  267.432,538
Current llabflities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses B 18,587,205 7.821.181
Tax payables 4{c) - 3,662 448
18,587 209 11,583,629
Net current asseats 269,935 865 255,848 909
NET ASSETS 269,953,068 255 868,662
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital S{a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Retained eamings 26?’..5352 868 253,868 462
TOTAL EQUITY 269,853,068 255,868,662

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of di

I%s il e

f e

Dialain £l

Directors

)
)
)
)
)

‘on

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements,
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Catigroug First favesinmant Managemant Limded

Finencial slatemants for the yaar anded 31 December 2020

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2020

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at 1 January 2019

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2019
Balance at 1 January 2020

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2020

Share Retained
capital samings Total
5 § 3
2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
- 18,659,798 19,669,798
2,000,200 253,868,462 255 568 662
2,000,200 253 BEB 462 256 868 662
- 14,084 406 14,084 408
2,000, 200 267,952,858 269953 058

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements,
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interast income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Decrease/{increase) in accounts receivable and
other assets

Increasef(decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

Net cash generated from operations

Heng Kong profits tax paid

Met cash generated from operating activities
Investing activity

Interest received

MNet cash generated from investing activity

Net increase In cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Mofe

8

Fimancial stalemesnds for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

5 s

16,705,770 22 5914 880
(B39,852) {2,982 020)
15,865 918 19,922 660
3,573,875 {2,450,828)
10,666,028 {15,804 .301)
__S0,105.821 1.887,531
{6.904,322) (460,512)
23,201,499 1,207,019
830,852 2,892,020

__ 599852 2,092,020
24,041,351 4,195 0349
257,483,338 253,284,299
281 524 BBY 257 483,338

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciigrong Frst invasiment Managemend Limed
Financial stafamantz for the yaar endad 31 December 2020

Notes to the financial statements
(Exprassed in Hong Kong dolfars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards {"HKFRSs"), which collactive term includes all applicable
individual Heng Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA™), accounting principies generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
reguiremants of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the curent accounting period of the Company. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting pericds reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measuremeant basis usad in the preparation of the financial stalements is the historical
cost basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial slatements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumplions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilties that are not readily apparent from
other sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

1"

183/251



(c)

()

(e)

M

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Citigroup Fest Invesimend Maragernen! Limited
Financia! simtemants for the year anded 31 Decembar 2020

Significant accounting policies {continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2020 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company's financial statements.

Change in presentation of statement of financial position

In prior years, Amounts due from/to affiliated companies were presented separately undar
Current assels and Current liabilities. From 2020 onwards, such receivable and payable
have been consolidated into Accounls receivable and other assets as well as Accrued
charges and other payables. The comparalive figures have been restated to conform with
the revised presentation,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand depasits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having baen within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the trading activities, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer,

or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Company is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third

parfies.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the dizcount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accrated on the contract liability under the effective
interesl method, The Company takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the pericd of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

- Fee income is recognised whean the relevant services have been rendered,

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest meathod,

12

184/251



(g)

(h)

(i)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Ciigroup Fest invasiment Management Limiled
Financeal stalements for the year ended 37 Decembar 2020

Significant accounting policles {continued)
Provisions and contingent labilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benafits will be reguired
to settle the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the cbligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflew of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated raliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Accounts and other recelvablas

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see nate
1)(v}), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cast less allowance for impaiment of doubtful debts.

Impaiment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognized when there is objective
evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference between the carmrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate where the effect of discounting is material,

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Company about events that have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

Transfation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated inte Hong Kong dollars at the exchange

rates ruling at the end of reporting period, Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

13

185/251



(k)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cangrowp Firg! vestmant Manegament Limited
Finsncle statemants for the yaar ended 31 December 2020

Significant accounting policies {continued)
income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
betwaen the camying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assels also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recogrition of assets and liabilities, ail deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movemeants therein, are presented
separataly from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against currant
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off cumrent tax assets against current tax
liabilties. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same tax
autheority on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that
person.

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
{iiy  has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of tha key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent

14
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Citigroup Fres! invesimant Managemen Limded
Firancip! sfatements for the year anded 31 December 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b} An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

{iy  The entity and tha Company are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is ralated to the others).

(il  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member),

(iiy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The enlity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or an entity related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a parson identified in (a).

(vii} A person identified in (2)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity),

{viil) The entity, or any member of a group of which it iz a part, provides key
management parsonnel services to the Company or to the Company's parent,

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which nomally will be equal to the
transaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial iability not held at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability.

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
panty to the contractual provisiens of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial labilities are
recorded.
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Citigroup Fest Investiment Menagerman! Limied
Enanciad siatements for the year anded 31 Dacambar 2020

1 Significant accounting policies {continued)

iy Classification and subsequent measurement

(A)

Classification of financial assets

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amortised cost or FVTFL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FWTPL,

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual tarms give rise on specified dales to cash fliows that are solely
payments of principal and interest {"SPPI°}

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at FVTPL.
Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business maodel in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
eutflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portiolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's
management;

- the risks lhat affect the perfformance of the business model (and the financial assets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed,;

- how the managers of the business are compensated: e.q. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows
collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the
reasons for such sales and expeclations about fulure sales aclivity

Financial assets that are hald for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at PVTPL because they are neither held

to collect contractual cash flaws nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
zell financial assets.
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Citigroup First Invasimend Management Limitad
Financlal statements for the year ended 31 December 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Assassment whether contractual casfh fows are SPEY

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular perod of time and for other basic lending risks and costs {e.g.
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the conlractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contraciual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this cendition, In making this assessment, the
Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

leverage features;
- prapayment and extension features,

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- featuras that modify consideration of the time value of money {e.g. periodical reset
of interest rates)

Reclassificalions

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

L nans and receivahles

Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assels and cash and cash equivalents. Thess assets are
measurad at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial Nabifities

Financial liabilities includes amount due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable

and accrued expenses. These liabililies are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial asset together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transferred.
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Citigraug Firs! Invesiment Managemeant Limiad
Financial stafements for tha year anded 31 Decembear 2020

Significant accounting policies {continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
derscagnition.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liakilties are offset and the net amount is reported in the
slatement of financial position where there is a legally enfarceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Impaiment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assels that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (j.e. the risk of default occumring over the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since inftial recognition

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considars a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade'.

Lifetima ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum peried considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed o credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
receive),

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset,
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Citsgroup First invesimen! Management Limited
Fnancial srafements for the year andad 317 Decembar 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Cradit-impaired financial assels

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whelher financial azsets camied at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when ane or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated fulure cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred,

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data;

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being mere than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the staterment of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets.

Wirite-off

The gross camying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion theraof.

Turnover

The principal activity of ihe Company is the provision of investment management services,

2020 2019
5 $
Investment management fae income 40,012,764 39,835 244

40,012,764 39,835,244
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Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2020 2019

5 5

Management fee expensas 6,456,764 4 666, 331
Sub-manager fee expenses 8,107,596 4,078,536
Legal and professional fee 7,988,111 10,742,855
Auditors’ remunaration 468,286 468,286
Custody expenses 332 108 -
Printing expansas 190,903 -
Others 478,200 92,148

Income tax

fncome tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents:

Taxatian in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2029 2019
5 s

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Over-provision in respect of the prior year (20,001) (15.9850)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 2,638 814 3,261,875

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of lemporary differences 2,551 2,996
2,621,364 3,244 BE2

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year is calculated at 16.5% (2019, 16.5%) of
the astimated assessable profits,

20

192/251



(b)

fc)

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Ciligrowp First fnvestment Managamaent Limied
Financial sfalements for the year ended 11 Decomber 2020

Income tax (continued)

Reconciliation belween income tax and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2020 2019

Profit before taxation 16,705,770 22 914 680
Motional tax on profit before taxation at 16.5% (2019;

16.5%) 2,756,452 3,780,923
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deduetible

loss (115,087) (516,052)

Over-provision in respect of prior year (20,001} (19,989)

Actual tax expense _ 2621364 3,244 BE2

Income tax in the statement of financial position represents:

(Tax receivable)/Current taxation in the statement of financial posilion represents:

Note 2020 2018

§ 3

Current taxation bought forward 3,662 448 581,075

Profits Tax Paid (6,904, 322) (460,513}
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating to

prior years (20.001) (19,989)
Provision for Hong Keng Profits Tax for the

year dia) 2638314 3,261,875

(623,061) 3,662,448
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Financial sfatements for the year anded 31 Docember 2020

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assels recognised;

The components of deferrad tax assets recognisaed in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation in

excess of he
related
depreciation
alfowances Total
3 3
At 1 January 2019 22,749 22,749
Charged to statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2,996) {2,998)
At 31 December 2019 19,753 18,753
At 1 January 2020 18,753 19,753
Charged to statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income {2.551) (2.556)
At 31 December 2020 17,202 19,753

As at 31 December 2020, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not recognised
or provided for (2019: $Nil).

Directors' emoluments
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as fallows:

2020 2019

3 $

Directors' fees - -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,478,000 7,478,000
Discretionary bonuses 9,277,210 8,494 B66
Share based payments 2,227 318 2,131,543
Retirement scheme contributions 750,500 740,100
19,733 029 18,844 509
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Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019

5 s

Cash at bank 281,524,689 257,483,338
Accounts receivable and other assets

2020 2019

g $

Investment management fee receivable 6,008,164 5,444 468

Lagal and professional fee racaivable 236,399 3,731,358

Others 130,762 773,374

6,375,325

9,849,200

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the fee
receivables are interest free, unsecured and expected to be settled within three months.,

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2020 2019

$ $

Sub-manager fee payable - 580,425
Legal and professicnal fee payable 4,684,580 4,840,130
Audit fee 460,648 460,648
Other payable 13,241,981 2,039,978
18,587,209 7.921,181

Included in sub-manager fee payable is an

amount due to a fellow subsidiary of SNl (2019:

$580.425). All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured and

expected to be settled within three months.
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Citigroup First favestment Managamen! Limited
Finnancial fiaterenls for the year ended 31 Cecembar 2020

9 Share capital

(a} [Isswvedshare capital

2020 2019
No. of No, af
shares Amaunt shares Amount
] $
Ordinary shares, iIssued and
fully paid;
At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do nol have a par value,

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared fram time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

{b) Capital management

The Company's primary cbjeclive when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management objectives.

The Company defines “capital” as including all components of equity, On this basis the
amaount of capital employed at 31 December 2020 was $269 953 068 (2019; $255 858 662).

The Company's capital struclure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs, Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that lhese do not conflict with the directors' fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The results of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securilies and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital reguiremeant is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liguid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year,
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Cabigrowun First favestman! Manegement Limied
Financiel siglemenis for the year ended 31 December 2020

Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parties as follows;

Fee income and expenses

Moie 2020 2018
3 5
Fee income
Invesiment management fee income (i) 40,012,764 39,835 244
Fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expanses (i) 6,067,624 1,200,215

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

- Hybrid Tri-Asset Fund (JPY) (*Fund Series 14") (Terminated on & Oct 2020)
- Asia High Yield Bond Fund (*Fund Series 18%)

- Mexico Bond Fund {*Fund Series 197

- Templeton Global Bond Fund Fereign Currency Series (*Fund Series 207)

= Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 25%)

- North American Equity Income Covered Call Strategy Fund (“Fund Seres 267
{Terminated on 5 Jun 2020}

- US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series (“Fund Serias 277)

- Treasury Premium Plus Fund {*Fund Series 287

- Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Series 307

- Treasury Premium Plus Il Fund ("Fund Series 317)

- USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1703 {*Fund Series 327

- JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation ("Fund Series 33

25
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Material related party transactions (continued)

- USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Series 34")

- JGB Asset Swap Fund (Fund Series 26°)

- Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund {"Fund Series 377

- Target Sefting at Malturity Fund 1802 ("Fund Series 38"

- China Hong Kong Equity Opportunities Fund (‘Fund Series 39")

- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1808 (“Fund Series 40")

- Muiti Asset Systematic Stralegies Fund ("Fund Series 417) (Launched on 15 Oct 2020
- Target Setting At Maturity Fund 1903 ("Fund Series 42")

- Flexibeta Fund (V15 Defensive and VT10 Active) ("Fund Series 43%)

- USD Denominated Citigroup Mote, Return Referring the High Watermark of Global Multi
Asset Strategy Fund (*Fund Series 44%) (Launched on 21 Jan 2020}

- Global Multi-Thematic Equity Fund {"Fund Series 45") (Launched on 30 Oct 2020)

- US Equity Intraday Momenlum Fund (*Fund Series 46") (Launched on 15 Dec 2020)

- CGMYL Index Target Velatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL"™}

= Kokusai Turkish Bond Cpen (1M} Active Currency Hedge (“HAM")

The Company is entitled to fee income fram the fellowing funds under its management:
investmen! management/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 14, 18, 19, 20, 25, 28, 27, 2B, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42,
43, 44,45, 45, CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculated al 0.01% to 1.8% per annum of the net
asset value of the funds.

Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 19, 30 and 45 the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable to the
sub-managers calculated at 50%,55% and 55% respectively of the gross management fee

income received. The total sub-managers’ fee expenses paid to the sub-managers for
Series 19, 39 and 45 as at 31 December 2020 amounted to $6 967 624 (2019: $1,900,215),
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Citigroup First frvestment Maragement Limiled
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Material related party transactions (continued)

Management fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenses to feflow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services to the Company. The management fee expense for the
reporting period as at 31 December 2020 amounted to $6 456 764 (2019: $4 866, 331).
Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 5, there were no other key management
personnel emolumeants.

2020 2019
s $
Key managemen! personnel emoluments 19,733,029 18,844 509

Amounts disclosed emaluments to certain key management personnel were paid by group
companies of the Company. The Company did not directly reimburse the group companies
for the service provided.

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company’s business. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and cutstanding fees receivable arising from the Company’s
invesiment management activities. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risks is menitored on an ongoing basis.

Managemeant fee receivables are regularly reviewed and settled on a regular schedule. Far
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the default rsk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of thesea financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Company's liquidity risk management process is integrated into the Consolidated Parent
Company and Broker Daaler liquidity and funding process and liquidity monitoring
framework, Citigroup policy requires Consclidated Parent Company and Broker Dealer
{(which the Company operating within) te maintain a strong liquidity position and ensure
sufficient cash flows to meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and
collateral needs,

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2018, all financial liabilities mature within one year
or are repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contractual settlement dates of the
financial liabilities are disclosed in notes 8.

fnteresf rate risk

The Company does not have any fixed deposits in 2020 which the exposure to interest rate
risk to the extent that it eams bank inlerest on cash and cash equivalents is insignificant,
The Company was exposed to interast rate risk only to the extent that it eams bank interest
on cash and cash eguivalents in 2019,

Sensilivity analysis

The following table indicates the estimated changes in the Company's profit before tax in
response 1o estimated changes in interest rate with all other variables held constant at the
end of the reporting pericd.

2020 2018

Profit Profit

before tax before tax

increase/ incragse’

(decreasa) {decreass)

%o ¥ % 3

Changes in interest rate

= Increase - - - -
- Decrease - - (0.33) (831,600)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised impact on the Company's profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had ooccurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
heid by the Company which expose the Company to interest rate risk at the end of reporting
period.

Currancy risk

Curmency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instrumeants,

Te minimise the exposures to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept al an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign cummencies at spot rates
where nacessary to cover the foreign currencies.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to

currancy risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relate.

2020 2018
Austraban Japaigse ug Austrabian JEpanese us
Daders Yan Dediars Dofars ¥en Diclars
HKD H¥D HAD HED HEw Dy I
equiva en eunalernt equivakent LR equivalant aquvainn
Cash and cash
equivalenls 3609 TIF.2'8 7.032 830 2505 62T 403 4,228 327
ALCounts neca vabhe
and athar assels - 4, F55.006 2,008 536 ! 12,678,653 3.812,104
Accounis payable
and apsrpsd
expansas - (5,970 427) (2.507, 160} - (4,605, TE6) {2,020,756)
Crarall nat
CHPOSUTE 3,608 (B87 203) A34 006 2389 8.600.310 5818675

Heng Kong dellar ("HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant,

2020 2018
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) increase’ (decrease) Increase/
in fareign (decrease) in fareign (decrease)
axchange on profit exchange on profit
rates before tax rafes hefare tax
% & % ¥
Australian dollars 513 185 - -
- - {4.35) {130}
Japanase Yen 5.26 (46,627) 577 513,518

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
te re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting peried, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencles other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019,
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Citigroup Fes! imvesiment Managament Limitad
Financia! statements far the year ended 31 Decamber 2020

Financial instruments (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are considered not to be materially different
from the camying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019,
Immediate parent and ultimate controlling party
At 31 December 2020, the directors consider the Company's immediate parent to be
Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
controlling party at 31 December 2020 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the Unitad States of America,
which are available for public use.
Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2020
Up to the date of issue of these financial staterments, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following which may be relevant to
the company.
Effective for
accounting perods
beginning on or after
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and 1 Januanj 2021
HKFRS 18, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
Amerdments to HKFRS 3, Refarence fo the Conceplual Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Flant and Equipment: Frocaeds 1 January 2022
hefore Intended Uise
Amendments to HKAS 37, Orerous Confracts - Cost of Fulfiling a 1 January 2022
Coniract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classificafion of Liabilitias as Current or 1 January 2023
Non-current

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expacted to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the
“ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set out on pages 7 to
42, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as at 30 June 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (* HKFRSs” ) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“ HKSAs” ) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors”
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA®s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (* the
Code” ) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors® report from English to
Japanese. We have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the translation. In the event of any
inconsistencies between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our
auditors® report, the English version shall prevail.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditors® report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon (continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible
for assessing the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)
Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager®s and Trustee"s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust"s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors® report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG
13 December 2021
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited

(* the Company” ) set out on pages 7 to 30, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“ HKFRSs” )
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (* HKSAs” ) and
with reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and
associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (* the Code” ) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor”s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to report to you on the
other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
28 April 2021
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